
Planning Commission 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Date:   10/7/2019 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers 
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

 
A. Call To Order 
 
 Chair Andrew Barnes called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
B. Roll Call 

 
Present: Andrew Barnes (Chair), Michael Doran, Camille Kennedy, Henry Riggs (Vice Chair), 
Michele Tate 
 
Absent: Chris DeCardy 
 
Staff: Kyle Perata, Principal Planner; Corinna Sandmeier, Senior Planner 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 
Principal Planner Kyle Perata said that Item G1 on the agenda was mistitled as a Scoping Session 
and was a Study Session. He said the City Council at its October 15 meeting would appoint a 
Planning Commissioner.  

 
D. Public Comment 

 
None 
 

E. Consent Calendar 
 
E1. Approval of minutes from the September 23, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

 
ACTION: Motion and second (Henry Riggs/Camille Kennedy) to approve the minutes as 
presented; passes 4-0-1-1 with Commissioner Michael Doran abstaining and Commissioner Chris 
DeCardy absent.  
 

F. Public Hearing 
 
F1 and G1 are associated items with a single staff report  

F1. Environmental Impact Report (EIR) Scoping Session/Peninsula Innovation Partners/1350-1390 
Willow Road, 925-1098 Hamilton Avenue, and 1005-1275 Hamilton Court: 
Request for an Environmental Review, Conditional Development Permit, Development Agreement, 
Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing Agreement, Zoning Map Amendment, General Plan 
Amendments, Heritage Tree Removal Permits, Vesting Tentative Map, Fiscal Impact Analysis and 

https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/23054


Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 2 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

an appraisal to identify the Community Amenity Value for a Master Plan to comprehensively 
redevelop an approximately 59-acre site located at 1350-1390 Willow Road, 925-1098 Hamilton 
Avenue, and 1005-1275 Hamilton Court. The proposed project would demolish approximately 
1,000,000 square feet of existing office, industrial, research and development (R&D), and 
warehousing campus. The project site would be redeveloped with approximately 1,735 housing 
units (with a minimum of 15% affordable), up to 200,000 square feet of non-office/commercial retail 
uses (including a grocery store and pharmacy), approximately 1,750,000 square feet of offices, a 
hotel with approximately 200-250 rooms, an approximately 10,000 square foot community center, 
and approximately 9.8 acres of publicly accessible open space (including an approximately 4-acre 
public park). The proposal includes a request for an increase in height, floor area ratio (FAR), and 
density under the bonus level development allowance in exchange for community amenities, as 
outlined in the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. The project site encompasses multiple parcels 
zoned O-B (Office) and R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use). The project site contains a toxic release 
site, per Section 6596.2 of the California Government Code that would be remediated as part of 
the proposed project, in compliance with the applicable requirements of the California Department 
of Toxic Substance Control, the State Water Resources Control Board, and/or other responsible 
agencies. (Staff Report #19-072-PC) 

 
 Item F1 was transcribed in its entirety by a court report separately from these summary minutes. 
 
G. Scoping Study Session 
 
G1. Scoping Study Session/Peninsula Innovation Partners/1350-1390 Willow Road, 925-1098 Hamilton 

Avenue, and 1005-1275 Hamilton Court: 
Request for an Environmental Review, Conditional Development Permit, Development Agreement, 
Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing Agreement, Zoning Map Amendment, General Plan 
Amendments, Heritage Tree Removal Permits, Vesting Tentative Map, Fiscal Impact Analysis and 
an appraisal to identify the Community Amenity Value for a Master Plan to comprehensively 
redevelop an approximately 59-acre site located at 1350-1390 Willow Road, 925-1098 Hamilton 
Avenue, and 1005-1275 Hamilton Court. The proposed project would demolish approximately 
1,000,000 square feet of existing office, industrial, research and development (R&D), and 
warehousing campus. The project site would be redeveloped with approximately 1,735 housing 
units (with a minimum of 15% affordable), up to 200,000 square feet of non-office/commercial retail 
uses (including a grocery store and pharmacy), approximately 1,750,000 square feet of offices, a 
hotel with approximately 200-250 rooms, an approximately 10,000 square foot community center, 
and approximately 9.8 acres of publicly accessible open space (including an approximately 4-acre 
public park). The proposal includes a request for an increase in height, floor area ratio (FAR), and 
density under the bonus level development allowance in exchange for community amenities, as 
outlined in the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. The project site encompasses multiple parcels 
zoned O-B (Office) and R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use). The project site contains a toxic release 
site, per Section 6596.2 of the California Government Code that would be remediated as part of 
the proposed project, in compliance with the applicable requirements of the California Department 
of Toxic Substance Control, the State Water Resources Control Board, and/or other responsible 
agencies. (Staff Report #19-072-PC) 

 
Chair Barnes noted that the applicant had made the project presentation under item F1 and asked 
if the Commission had any clarifying questions on the project.  
 

https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/23053
https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/23053


Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 3 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

Commissioner Riggs asked about parking for Main Street and the grocery story. Mr. Michael 
Ghielmetti, Signature Development Group, said parking was included with each of the mixed-use 
buildings for residential as well as separate parking for guests and visitors for the shops and 
grocery store. Commissioner Riggs asked if the Willow Village guidelines were meant to parallel 
the ConnectMenlo guidelines as part of the development agreement or were in addition to the 
ConnectMenlo guidelines. Mr. Ghielmetti said that would be determined by engagement and input.  
Commissioner Riggs noted modulations of facades over certain lengths under ConnectMenlo and 
the City’s Specific Plan and asked if they would be proposing different guidelines. Mr. Ghielmetti 
said he thought they would like to stay within the design intent and overall ConnectMenlo 
guidelines. He said they would like to design more of the project earlier on so the Commission and 
general public would have a more definitive notion of the design intent. Commissioner Riggs said 
he supported doing that, but suggested people might struggle with the term guidelines as that was 
embodied in the zoning. 
 
Commissioner Riggs said the non-office and retail uses were presented in a square footage range 
and asked at what point they would be able to specify square footage. Mr. Ghielmetti said he 
thought 125,000 square feet would reach a critical mass for a mixed-use neighborhood like that 
proposed. He said it was not known at this point whether more square footage could be tolerated 
either from a traffic perspective or community amenity perspective. 
 
Chair Barnes opened public comment. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
• Matt Regan, Bay Area Council, a business sponsored public policy organization, said the 

proposed project would reduce the number of people having to commute great distances from 
affordable housing to the area to work. He said they supported the project moving forward. 

 
Chair Barnes called Barry Hathaway. Mr. Hathaway did not speak. 
 
• Fran Dehn, Chamber of Commerce, said the project was a  unique opportunity for Menlo Park 

and featured a cohesive master plan mixed use development that integrated into and 
complemented the adjacent Belle Haven neighborhood, other neighborhoods and greater 
Menlo Park area. She said it was shared space replacing an obsolete, single use, warehouse 
industrial complex. She said it addressed below market rate and market rate housing and 
included senior housing. She outlined all the favorable aspects she found with the proposed 
planned community. 
 

• Pamela Jones, Menlo Park, said on July 18, 2017, this project in a very early stage was 
brought to the City Council as an information item. She said her recorded comment at that time 
was: “This could be a model for a sustainable city that was truly live, work, play.” She said they 
had a wonderful opportunity to set an example of what it would look like to reduce the jobs-
housing imbalance. She said she wanted to see jobs in this area where the people in the area 
might work. She said they did not have data on this. She referred to the idea of the project 
helping to repopulate the elementary school and noted that Belle Haven School was old and 
tired. She said it was important to look at the proposed office buildings and their structure with 
an opportunity to repurpose as Facebook would not be in the area forever. She recommended 
that they reduce the office space and put in more housing and trees. 



Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 4 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

 
• Obed Reynaga said he was an apprentice and lived in East Palo Alto. He said the project was 

a great opportunity for him to work where he lived. He said he would like the project to be 
developed symbiotically with the community around it and for the open space to be used by 
nearby residents in the future. 

 
Chair Barnes closed the public comment period. 
 
Commission Comment: Commissioner Doran said for the record that he had met previously with 
the developers and toured the site with them. He noted a public comment and a comment of the 
Chair regarding the possibility of a direct connection to Bayfront Expressway from Willow Village as 
that would not increase traffic on Willow Road or University Avenue from the project. He asked the 
applicant if consideration had been made of such a connection. Mr. Ghielmetti said that was not 
something that could be defined until they studied with their traffic consultant the existing traffic 
conditions cumulatively with the proposed project. He said potentially there were other 
considerations not traffic related such as biological and ecological that could affect whether such a 
connection was feasible. He said there were also things they were proposing that would actually 
alleviate traffic pressures on Willow Road and University Avenue. 
 
Commissioner Doran said the biggest mitigation he could see for traffic impacts was the 
Dumbarton Rail. He asked whether it would be possible to condition the approval for Willow Village 
on the approval of Dumbarton Rail with a certain amount of progress being made toward that and a 
commitment from Facebook to reach certain milestones for Dumbarton Rail. He asked if that would 
be within the Commission’s authority. Planner Perata said he could not answer that tonight and the 
question would need greater discussion with other staff including the City Attorney and in terms of 
policy was a valid question. 
 
Commissioner Doran said the project was impressive and it seemed a lot of thought had already 
gone into it. He said it integrated many of the goals of ConnectMenlo and the City into one project. 
He said they had received great public comments on the project, and he wanted to emphasize 
those for the record. He said he thought there was a clear preference for residential development 
and additional housing as opposed to additional office. He encouraged the developers and 
Facebook to think about that preference as the project was refined. He said his personal 
preference was for a significant amount of the housing to be earmarked for Facebook employees. 
He said he would not want all the housing go to Facebook employees, but he thought the best way 
to reduce Facebook’s traffic impacts was worker housing as close as possible to the worksite. He 
said he liked the public comment regarding phasing of the project to have early phases tilted more 
towards residential than office. He said doing that would make him more favorable toward project 
approval. He said they needed to be more cognizant that no matter how great the rate of Facebook 
growth was right now that the next economic cycle would be down noting a history of grand 
projects getting stalled before completion. He said with that occurring he would prefer that housing 
rather than office had been built. He said he encouraged the traffic consultant and the developers 
to consider direct access from the project to Bayfront Expressway. 
 
Chair Barnes noted this planned development would require a conditional development permit and 
a development agreement (DA). He asked from an economics standpoint what role the DA 
potentially played and how it was different from community amenities. Planner Perata said 
community amenities were hardwired into the zoning ordinance in regard to bonus level 



Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 5 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

development. He said through an appraisal process it was determined what 50% of the increased 
value of the bonus level development was and that was given to the community through a 
community amenity. He said currently there was an adopted list of community amenities and that 
was attached to the staff report as Attachment G. He said the appraisal process to determine the 
bonus value amount for community amenity would be concurrent with the entitlement and 
environmental review processes. He said the DA was required as part of the Master Plan project. 
He said the DA memorialized certain agreements between the City and the applicant / developer. 
He said those could take the form of phasing requirements and could include things like benefits 
above and beyond minimally required community amenities, or the timing of certain improvements 
or community amenities. 
 
Chair Barnes said he did not meet with the applicant and as a policy did not meet with applicants 
prior to a hearing as he wanted to ask his questions of them and hear their responses in a public 
session. He said he did however have a conversation with the applicant recently that was not 
about the project but specifically to inform them that transportation or the ability to model traffic trip 
counts associated with the project would be very important to see. He addressed Mr. Ghielmetti 
directly that it would be important to have transparency about what they were doing and trying to 
do, and what their economics were in delivering different types of product including the residential, 
retail office and hotel. He said the sooner that information became part of the discussion the better 
it was for everyone. 
 
Chair Barnes said the plans called for up to 200,000 square feet of mixed use. He said in  
comparison that one side of the downtown Santa Cruz Avenue from El Camino Real to Peet’s was 
in total an aggregate 150,000 square feet of retail. He asked what the applicants were 
contemplating in terms of mixed use and tenant mix. Mr. Ghielmetti said that right now they did not 
know what the retail environment would be and that was why they had indicated a range of up to 
200,000 square feet. He said they wanted to be flexible. He said if it was pure retail such as a 
pharmacy and grocery store those would have larger footprints. He said an urban grocery store 
could be anywhere from 15,000 to 35,000 square feet. He said a pharmacy could be 8,000 to 
15,000 square feet. He said this did not have to be pure retail but could include artist workshops, 
maker space, or pdr (production, distribution, repair) space. He said they wanted to maximize their 
ability to interact with the community. He said they wanted to create something that had foot traffic 
including bicyclists and pedestrians, people living in the area, people visiting in the area, coming to 
the parks and Facebook employees. Chair Barnes said the area would have to become a 
destination as the population within Willow Village would not support that level of vibrancy. Mr. 
Ghielmetti said that Belle Haven and East Palo Alto were neighbors underserved with retail and 
that was why they wanted to have a broader notion of what retail was and a range of that retail. He 
said they did not want to create things that would not be successful. Chair Barnes said he would 
welcome 200,000 square feet of retail noting that the design and form were important in creating 
an accessible space that made people feel welcome to want to come in and experience the retail 
space. 
 
Chair Barnes said they had 175 parking spaces on the street referring to Exhibit 2B. He said the 
intent was a walkable and experienceable location and asked whether those spaces might be 
deployed elsewhere. Mr. Ghielmetti said 175 parking spaces were not very much given the scope 
of the project. He said they were planning wide sidewalks, separated Class 1 bicycle lanes, and 
parklets but a certain small amount of convenience parking was needed by people. He said the 
bulk of the parking would be within the buildings themselves for residents, visitors and customers. 



Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 6 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

Replying to Chair Barnes, Mr. Ghielmetti said their goal was to have a broader definition of mobility 
that was not car focused without sacrificing overall connectivity.  
 
Chair Barnes referred to Parcel 11, Exhibit 7, noted as RMU and asked what building was 
contemplated there. Mr. Ghielmetti said that right now they were considering retail uses there and 
bandied about ideas such as a cinema or bowling alley – uses that would draw visitors to the area. 
 
Chair Barnes asked what was proposed as senior housing. Mr. Ghielmetti said everything was 
preliminary and had to be studied through the environmental review process. He said basically 
they wanted to have a very diverse population and part of that was age diversity. He said they saw 
seniors as an underserved community for housing and affordable housing and they wanted to be 
part of the solution. 
 
Chair Barnes noted recycled water was part of the utilities plan and asked if all of the buildings 
within the project were anticipated to use a recycled water system. Mr. Ghielmetti said that was 
correct. Chair Barnes asked if it was similar to what was proposed at another Facebook site related 
to black water use. Mr. Ghielmetti said he could not make a commitment to that. 
 
Chair Barnes referred to the Hamilton Avenue realignment and a potential relocation of the 
Chevron Station and asked why that was important. Mr. Ghielmetti said basically what was shown 
were different configurations that were not yet rated. Chair Barnes said that there must be a reason 
to potentially relocate a gas station. Mr. Ghielmetti said that was correct but there were pros and 
cons to everything which they had to study. 
 
Chair Barnes noted discussion about the Cross Bay Transit Partners. He asked if there was a 
relationship or dependency with that initiative and what was being considered at Willow Village. Mr. 
Ghielmetti said there was not a direct relationship and it would be studied, but it was not a 
dependency. He said it was incumbent upon them to have a package of amenities that included 
traffic and congestion improvements that would hopefully win the trust of the Commission and City 
Council. He said they needed to work with consultants to study various alternatives. He said it 
might or might not include aspects of that separate project. He said that there might be other 
congestion management or mobility services that they could offer. 
 
Chair Barnes said Facebook’s other campuses had trip caps and asked why that concept would 
not work for this project. Mr. Ghielmetti said that was part of the things they needed to look at. He 
said potentially having this other campus here might mean better connectivity for bicyclists, 
pedestrians, trams and buses, which they would have to study. Chair Barnes said the other 
Facebook campuses were more closed than this project, which was being designed to bring in the 
public as well so it might be difficult to monitor trips and ascribe them. Mr. Ghielmetti said they had  
office and residential categories. He said it was possible that the more people that lived there might 
mean the more people working there and that would be less trips. He said if there was a grocery 
store and pharmacy there would be less people making trips crosstown for those needs. He said 
these were the types of things that had to be studied. Chair Barnes said when there was a trip cap 
on a project it had the effect of bounding the perspective of impacts in an area. He said he wanted 
to put forward the concept of a trip cap on the office portion of this project as that would make very 
tangible how many vehicles would be moving in and out of that part of the project site. He said that 
in turn quantified impacts. He said he offered that as something to consider in developing the 
project. 



Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 7 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

 
Chair Barnes referred to phasing of the project and asked what they were trying to accomplish with 
that. Mr. Ghielmetti said as they tried to create some amount of community amenities, some 
amount of housing both affordable and market rate, and some amount of office there were factors 
including economic drivers that basically helped pay for the project. He said the other question was 
how much of the housing could be absorbed at any one time. He said if 11 buildings were being 
built at the same time the question would be whether the market would be able to absorb all of that 
at once. He said they wanted this to be a successful project and typically wanted to phase different 
aspects of it. He said the office aspect was easier from an absorption standpoint because it was a 
Facebook building. He said like retail you would not want housing to lay fallow whether for sale or 
for rent. He said having too much product on the market was counter intuitive to that. He said they 
were also trying to balance traffic impacts. He said there was some notion that the office, retail, 
and residential traffic did not all move in the same direction and in some cases,  it moved in the 
opposite direction. He said they were trying to balance those types and things. He said they would 
study mitigation measures that might compensate for some of the impacts. He said they heard 
from the community that they wanted various things to be frontloaded. He said they wanted the 
community and City’s support for their project so they would study those things between now and 
when the EIR was concluded. 
 
Chair Barnes asked about Peninsula Innovation Partners. Mr. Ghielmetti said basically it was a 
company that Facebook had formed for this specific purpose and brought Signature Development 
Group in as their partner on this project. Chair Barnes referred to a parcel map on Exhibit 7 and 
asked if there was a scenario 10 years from now when Facebook would not be the owners of 
certain parcels within the Willows Village. Mr. Ghielmetti said with the residential portion that was a 
scenario. He said on the office portion he had not heard that discussed. He said the project was 
being designed so that it was a market ready project but all he had heard from Facebook was that 
it was their sincere desire, intent and goal to occupy the office space. 
 
Commissioner Riggs said he found this concept of a new neighborhood exciting and if he could get 
there, he planned to be a visitor to the neighborhood center. He said he had anticipated that the 
RMU zoning designation meant it was a concentrated village with retail and services but no office. 
He said he thought that they had heard this tonight with the request for increased housing and 
services for the project rather than office. He noted the applicant’s pro forma needs but indicated 
he was anticipating seeing the response to the voiced desire for more housing with services rather 
than office. He said related to circulation it appeared the project would have a viable connection to 
East Palo Alto and University Avenue. He referred to the community room program and requested 
that its use not be dominated by any particular larger group or endeavor, so it was available for the 
new community and the Belle Haven community as things came up. He said related to paseos 
there was the question of whether the paseos meet the intention of ConnectMenlo. He said he 
thought the overriding intention of ConnectMenlo was to create vibrant spaces that worked with 
workspaces, residents and community service such that community happened. He said he did not 
think designated paseos were the highest priority and this planning worked very well and had 
resolved the competing interests and desires and prioritizing in a very good and useful way. He 
said he was much more interested in biking up Main Street rather than biking around the east and 
north edges even though it would ultimately get to the Bayfront Trail. He said paseos were scripted 
in the ConnectMenlo ordinance with a designated width and designated components in any cross 
section of that width. He said a trail did not have to be a consistent character and he thought a 
consistent character detracted from a trail. He said he would encourage some variation to the trail 



Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 8 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

if it was to the benefit of any of the buildings or if it afforded the opportunity for an uninterrupted 
green space. He said he hoped in working with staff that would turn out to be a possibility. He 
noted coastal redwood on the landscaping plan and pointed out it was not a tree people wanted to 
sit under or park under when it was dropping. He said also coastal redwoods kept growing for  
centuries so there was the question of how many of those and where it was desirable to plant. He 
said in terms of the scale of the buildings from what they had seen so far this was what was 
intended, and he thought it worked. He said in the portion they had designated for housing that he 
thought there could be height issues particularly adjacent to Willow Road and also in terms of what 
people wanted to live in. He said he hoped more buildable area was taken for the additional 
housing for that EIR alternative. He commented that mechanical penthouses’ scale and finishes 
could be awkward when a mechanical penthouse was taller than the occupied story in the unit 
below it. He referred to emails received by the Commission noting one that challenged the City to 
judge the project in terms of its overall effect on Menlo Park. He said the most visible effect and the 
hardest to mitigate was traffic. He said the proposed project responded to ecological challenges so 
well that one was eager to see it built just to prove this was how they could build in the future. He 
said the energy put into creating the market square and Main Street and locating the most needed 
services next to the residential areas was fantastic. He said transportation was the issue for this 
and any other projects in the bayside area. He said he would not want the project to get stalled 
because of transportation still he felt a resistance to additional traffic and not just on Bayshore and 
Willow Road. He said he met with the developer last week. He said it was inappropriate to ask 
Facebook to build a bridge noting that if projects did not pencil out, they did not happen. He said 
however it was a wonderful opportunity that the City had such a strong partner as Facebook that 
might push forward the transportation issues where the pushing needed to happen and that was 
beyond City Hall and in Sacramento and offices of representatives in Washington D.C. 
 
Chair Barnes noted that it was 10:25 p.m. He said that Commissioner Kennedy need to leave at 
11:00 p.m. He asked if others had to leave at 11 p.m. and noted that Commissioner Tate would 
also need to leave at 11:00 p.m. 
 
Chair Barnes said the staff report asked if the Commission effectively thought a hotel was an 
appropriate use at the site and would complement the other uses at the site. He said the 
application was for 250 rooms and would exceed the room cap. He asked if staff’s question was 
whether the hotel was an appropriate use there or whether there was a recommendation to 
increase the room cap. He said he did not recommend increasing the cap, but he did recommend 
this site getting 250 hotel rooms (he noted previously that the hotel at Haven Avenue was not 
located appropriately). Planner Perata said they were looking for feedback on the proposed use 
and feedback on whether 250 rooms was an appropriate number. He said as a policy the room cap 
was something the City Council would decide. He said if this application were to move forward with 
250 rooms that would need an amendment to the 400-room development cap as the assumption 
was other projects on file would likely get entitled and potentially start construction prior to this 
project’s entitlement. Chair Barnes said he supported 250 rooms and not to increase the cap. He 
said that this was where a hotel should go for a multitude of reasons including decreasing trip 
counts and it should be to the exclusion of other hotel sites. Planner Perata said ultimately the 
project might reduce the rooms for a multitude of reasons as well. 
 
Chair Barnes closed the study session for the Willows Village project. 
 

H. Study Session 



Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 9 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

 
H1. Study Session/Chase Rapp/1162 El Camino Real: 

Request for a study session to review a proposed three story, nine unit residential development 
with an at grade parking garage with nine parking spaces in the SP-ECR/D (El Camino 
Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning district. Three of the units would be designated as Below 
Market Rate (BMR) units, with one unit providing a BMR unit for this project and two units providing 
BMR units for the combined projects at 506 Santa Cruz Avenue, 556 Santa Cruz Avenue, and 
1125 Merrill Street. The Planning Commission held a previous study session on this proposal on 
March 11, 2019 and the project has been refined to address comments from the March 11, 2019 
study session. No actions will take place at this meeting, but the study session will provide an 
opportunity for the Planning Commission and the public to become more familiar with the proposal 
and to provide feedback. (Staff Report #19-073-PC) 
 
Staff Comment: Senior Planner Corinna Sandmeier said 18 additional emails were received in 
support of keeping Feldman’s Books since publication of the staff report. She said 16 of those were 
received before 6:00 p.m. this evening and were printed for the Commission and the public. 
 
Chair Barnes said rather than have the applicant’s presentation due to the late hour they would 
open for public comment at this time. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
• Timothy Aveni, Menlo Park, said he really liked Feldman’s Books. He said to some he 

represented a problem as he was the tech guy moving in, causing the rents to go up, the cost 
of living to spike and generally increasing the demand for housing. He said he did not want to 
be part of the problem. He said he wanted to be part of the community and make a life here. He 
said he liked to unplug after work and read a book with real pages that came from a bookstore. 
He said he had traveled to large cities that no longer had bookstores like Feldman’s. He said 
the City of Menlo Park was beautiful and welcoming, a place where he would like to raise a 
family. He said Feldman’s was really beautiful and really welcoming. He said Menlo Park would 
not be made better bringing new people in if the cost was the loss of the soul of the City. He 
said they would not be able to bring new people into it if the City lost its character. He said he 
would like to see new housing but alongside of and not instead of Feldman’s Books. 

 
Chair Barnes called speaker Larry Dahl. Mr. Dahl did not speak. 
 
• Edward Avak, Menlo Park, said he believed any city should have some used bookstores. He 

said when he first moved to Menlo Park in the 70s there were three used bookstores and now 
only Feldman’s. He said what they offered in contrast to libraries, new bookstores or access to 
the internet was the randomness of the presentation of the books. He said this was important 
especially for youth he thought as it confronted them with unanticipated topics and 
presentations that stimulated imagination and dreaming that could have very important 
influence on choice of career and avocation. 

 
• Charlotte Layton, District 4, Menlo Park, said she was representing the Committee to Save 

Feldman’s Books. She said as a 15-year resident of Menlo Park she had seen it rapidly change 
from a place to raise a family filled with small businesses and charm to its recent boom in 
development. She said the proposed building at 1170 El Camino Real was troubling as the 

https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/23052


Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 10 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

current building there was built sometime between 1888 and 1900s and not only held the 
charm of a simpler past but also an independently owned bookstore. She said the project 
proposal was to destroy the past and construct an unremarkable concrete block apartment 
building in an unsuitable location. She said she thought the developer had leveraged housing 
and BMRs to make the destruction of the original building and possible shuttering of a 23-year 
old small business a bit easier for the community to accept. She said Feldman’s was a place of 
connection and a place to feel the humanity of Menlo Park, and she hoped the Planning 
Commission and the developer would recognize their responsibility to the community and the 
Menlo Park of the future by finding a way to save the building and/or save Feldman’s Books.    

 
Chair Barnes closed the public comment period.  
 
Applicant Presentation: Toby Long, project architect, showed an image of their previous proposal. 
He said they heard at the previous study session that the modular nature was dominating the 
design or aesthetic of the façade and to look more closely at neighborhood context. He said 
additionally that balconies facing out to El Camino Real could be challenging to manage and might 
become cluttered and they should consider eliminating them. He said they also heard the 
balconies in the rear needed screening for privacy and that rear yard landscape screening was 
critical for the adjoining residential property. He said they were asked to look closely at the 
gathering space in the rear yard as some of the neighbors were concerned there might be parties 
or such that would disturb their privacy. He said they had a new building concept that retained the 
nine residential units and nine parking spaces. He said they worked with the City’s contract 
architect on creating a façade that was more pedestrian oriented. He said for contextual aesthetics 
they were looking toward more traditional materials. He said they were removing the balconies 
from the El Camino Real side and working closely with landscape consultants on providing more 
screening at the year yard and providing a smaller paved area at the rear yard to emphasize quiet 
use. He said the façade had been broken down for a variety of reasons primarily to remove any 
residual modular geometry and to bring it into better scale with some of the adjoining structures. 
He showed an image of the proposed façade. 
 
Chair Barnes asked if the Commission had clarifying questions of the applicant or staff. 
 
Commissioner Riggs said there seemed to be some momentum regarding the bookstore and 
suggested there might be a creative solution to relocate the business in the building or ideally to 
relocate the entire building.  
 
Chair Barnes referred to the proximity of the site to the train station and any state bills that might 
have an impact on it. He asked if the site was a “by right” site for residential development. Planner 
Sandmeier said she believed the project would be subject to the Housing Accountability Act, but 
she believed there was some discretion on design. Chair Barnes asked if the property owner “by 
right” had the ability to build residential there and demolish the existing building. Planner 
Sandmeier said she believed they did as the historical resource evaluation showed the buildings 
were not considered a historical resource. Chair Barnes asked if the City played any role in 
enforcing the Housing Accountability Act. He said if the property owner did not take the initiative 
how did the Act apply to the property. She said that the developer would need to ask for it but 
otherwise it would not apply. She said she would check with the City Attorney before the next 
meeting on that. 
 



Approved Minutes – October 7, 2019 
Page 11 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

Planner Perata said setting aside any state laws that were in the pending legislative process and 
how they might apply to the project, and setting aside the Housing Accountability Act and how that 
might or might not apply to the project, he said while residential use was permitted in this zoning 
and was not a conditional use, the City had discretion in regards to the architectural control. He 
said the proposed project required staff review and evaluation for compliance with the Specific 
Plan requirements and then Planning Commission review and deliberation on whether the design 
and architect met the required standards and guidelines in the Specific Plan, which was a 
discretionary process. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Barnes/Riggs) to continue the item to the regular meeting of October 
21, 2019; passes 5-0-1 with Commissioner DeCardy absent.  
 

I. Informational Items 
 
I1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 

• Regular Meeting: October 21, 2019 
 
Planner Perata said the October 21 agenda would have the continued study session item first and 
four single-family development projects.  
  
• Regular Meeting: November 7, 2019 
• Regular Meeting: November18, 2019 

 
J. Adjournment 

 
Chair Barnes adjourned the meeting at 11:01 p.m. 
 
 
 
Staff Liaison: Kyle Perata, Principal Planner 
 
Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 
 
Approved by the Planning Commission on October 21, 2019 























































































































































































WILLOW VILLAGE 

willow village

Signature Development Group

willow village

Economic Opportunity
Education
Housing
Mobility
Community Building
Sustainability

Facebook In The 
Community  

willow village

2017- 2018 Community Engagement



willow village

2017- 2018 Community Engagement

willow village

Community Feedback

WILLOW VILLAGE 

willow village



willow village

willow village

willow village

willow village



willow village

• Grocery Store
• Pharmacy
• Connections to Belle Haven
• Banking Options
• Housing
• Main Street
• Mixed Use Retail / Active Tenants
• Hotel
• Park / Plazas
• Office
• Welcome Center
• Public Parking
• Arrival Monuments / Public Art
• Regional Bicycle Connections

Willow Village Components



Live, Work,Play:
Town Square

Retail PlazaRetail Park



willow village

Sustainability Strategy & Commitments  

2019 Community Engagement

• LEED Gold    
• All Electric 
• Recycled Water
• No Net New Green House Gas Emissions 
• Sustainable Building Materials & Methods 
• On Site Renewable, Energy Generation 



willow village

2019 Community Engagement

2019 Community Engagement

• February    Updated Application Submitted
• February - March Neighborhood Open Houses
• February- October 1:1, Small and Large Group Presentations
• May City Council Study Session
• August EIR Contract Approved
• September NOP Release
• October Planning Commission Study Session

EIR Scoping Meeting 

WILLOW VILLAGE WILLOW VILLAGE 



FACEBOOK WILLOW VILLAGE PROJECT
Environmental Impact Report Scoping Session and Project Study Session
Staff Presentation 
Planning Commission meeting of October 7, 2019

 Two public hearings
– Environmental Impact Report (EIR) scoping session

• Input on scope and content of the EIR
– Study session

• Provide feedback on the project plans
• City Council held most recent study session on May 7, 2019

 No actions will be taken tonight

MEETING PURPOSE

2

PROJECT LOCATION

3

Proposed 
Willow 
Village

 Project Site (59 acres)
– Menlo Science and Technology Park

 20 buildings (1 million sf)
 Existing land uses:

– Office, R&D, warehouses 
– Facebook uses include offices, 

employee amenities, R&D, and 
employee health center

 Approximately 3,500 employees
 Zoned:

– Office-Bonus (O-B)
– Mixed-Use-Residential Bonus 

(R-MU-B)

EXISTING SITE

4

Project Site

Bayfront Expressway



5

PROPOSED PROJECT
 Existing buildings to be demolished
 Mixed-use development
 Housing: 1,735 dwelling units
 Retail: up to 200,000 square feet

– Grocery store and pharmacy

 Hotel: up to 250 rooms
 Office: 1.75 million square feet

– Net new 750,000 square feet

 Publicly accessible open space
– Community serving space adjacent to park

 EIR Scoping Session
– Staff overview of proposed project
– Presentation by applicant
– Presentation by EIR consultant
– Commissioner questions
– Public comments
– Commissioner comments
– Close scoping session public hearing

 Study Session
– Commissioner questions
– Public comments
– Commissioner comments

RECOMMENDED MEETING FORMAT

6

THANK YOU



Menlo Park Planning Commission
NOP Scoping Session
October 7, 2019

 Introduction to the Project Team

 Project Overview

 Introduction to the Environmental Impact Report (EIR)

 Probable Environmental Issues

 Purpose of Scoping 

 Submitting Comments

 Next Steps

City of Menlo Park – Lead Agency

ICF – Lead CEQA Consultant

Hexagon – Transportation Consultant

Keyser Marston Associates – Housing Needs Assessment

Bay Area Economics – Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA)

 Required by the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) for projects that may have significant 
environmental impacts

 Identifies potential physical environmental impacts of 
project

 Informs the public and public agency decision-makers 
prior to project approval/disapproval

 Recommends ways to reduce significant effects

 Considers project alternatives that may lessen potential 
impacts



 Aesthetics
 Air Quality
 Biological Resources
 Cultural/Tribal Resources
 Energy
 Geology/Soils
 Greenhouse Gas Emissions
 Hazardous Materials

 Hydrology/Water Quality
 Land Use/Planning 
 Noise
 Population/Housing
 Public Services/ Recreation 
 Utilities
 Transportation

 Notice of Preparation – September 18, 2019
 Scoping Meeting – October 7, 2019
 Draft EIR – Fall 2020
 Draft EIR Public Hearing – Fall 2020
 Final EIR – Early 2021
 EIR Certification Hearing – Early 2021
 Notice of Determination – Early 2021

 Gather public input on the scope of the 
environmental document

 Identify key environmental issues

 Identify potential mitigation measures

 Identify potential alternatives for 
consideration

 Begin collecting existing conditions data

 Review Proposed Project for potential effects

 Consider scoping comments and responses to NOP in 
conducting the analysis 



 Via email:    ktperata@menlopark.org

 Via letter:    Kyle Perata, Principal Planner
Community Development Department, Planning Division
701 Laurel Street
Menlo Park, CA 94025

 Speaking tonight at scoping session

Public Comment Period:
September 18th to October 18th

All Comments Must Be Received By October 18th @ 5:00 p.m.


